03/28/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0664

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MONTANA Cause No. DA 23-0664

WALTER JOEY OVERSTREET,)
Plaintiff/Appellant,)
VS.)
v 5.)
ERIC FETTERHOFF, in his official and individual)
Capacities, JOHN DOES 3-7, BARBARA WATSON,)
Individually and WATSON CRASH)
RECONSTRUCTION, LLC, MONTANA HIGHWAY)
PATROL, and PARK COUNTY MONTANA, a)
Political subdivision, BRUCE BECKER, individually)
And as Park County Attorney, SHANNAN PICCALO,)
Individually and as Deputy Park County Attorney,)
STATE OF MONTANA and KENDRA LASSITER,)
Individually and in her official capacity as Park County)
Attorney,)
)

STATEMENT OF CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT11
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT13
THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED DEFENDANTS' RULE 12(b)(6) MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM
A. RULE 12(b)(6) DISMISSALS ARE AN EXTREME REMEDY AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN GRANTED IN THIS CASE BASED UPON THE WELL PLEAD ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT 14
B. DEFENDANTS AND THE STATE ARE NOT IMMUNE FROM THEIR ACTIONS IN THIS CASE AS THE ACTIONS ARE OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT. THE MOTION TO DISMISS MUST BE DENIED
CONCLUSION34
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITY

Anderson v. ReconTrust Company, N.A., 2017 MT 313, 390 Mont. 12, 407 P.3d 692
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 1196-97, 0 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963)
Buckley v. Fitzsimmons, 509 U.S. 259, 113 S. Ct. 2606, 125 L. Ed. 2d 209 (1993)
Burgan v. Nixon, No. CV 16-61-BLG-TJC, 2018 WL 4690797, (D. Mont. Sept. 28, 2018). 26
<i>Cf. Lutheran Day Care v. Snohomish County,</i> 119 Wash.2d 91, 829 P.2d 746, 751 (1992)
Christian v. Adtlantic Richfield Co. 2015 MT 25529-30
Cossitt v. Flathead Indus., 2018 MT 82, ¶7, 391 Mont. 156, 415 P.3d 486
Dickson v. Marino, 2020 MT 196, ¶ 6, 400 Mont. 526, 469 P.3d 159 11
Ehrman v. Kaufman, Vidal, Hileman & Ramlow, PC, 2010 MT 284 31
Fellows v. Office of Water Comm'r, 2012 MT 169, 365 Mont. 540, 258 P.3d 448
Gebhardt v. D.A. Davidson & Co., 203 Mont. 384, 661 P.2d 855, 857 (1983)
Jacobsen v. Allstate Ins. Co., 2009 MT 248, 351 Mont. 464, 215 P.3d 649
Kelman v. Losleben, 894 P.2d 955, 957 (1995)20
Marshall v. Safeco Ins. Co., 2018 MT 45, 390 Mont. 358, 413 P.3d 828

Martin v. Artis, 2012 MT 249, 366 Mont. 513, 290 P.3d 687
McDaniel v. State, 2009 MT 159, 350 Mont. 422, 431, 208 P.3d 817, 825
Plouffe v. Montana Dept. of Pub. Health and Human Servs., 45 P.3d 10, 14 (Mont. 2002)
Rickman v. Safeway Stores, 227 P.2d 607, 610 (Mont. 1951)
Rosenthal v. County of Madison, 2007 MT 277, 339 Mont. 419, 170 P.3d 493
Smith on Behalf of Smith v. Butte-Silver Bow Cnty., 266 Mont. 1, 878 P.2d 870, 873 (1994) 17
State v. Licht, 266 Mont. 123, 879 P.2d 670 (1994)
State v. Stewart, 2000 MT 379, 303 Mont. 507, 16 P.3d 391
State v. Torres, 2021 MT 301, 498 P.3d 1256
Textana, Inc. v. Klabzula Oil & Gas, 2009 MT 401
Montana Statutes
§ 27–1–221, MCA
§46-15-327, MCA
§46-15-322(1)(e), MCA

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DISMISSED PLAINTIFF'S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO M.R.C.IV. P 12(B)(6) FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM WHEN IT FAILED TO TAKE ALL WELL PLEAD FACTS OF THE (SAC) AS TRUE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of the State and individual named Highway Patrol
Trooper Fetterhoff and county attorney defendants, Becker and Piccolo's
participation in the wrongful and malicious prosecution of the Plaintiff Walter
"Joey" Overstreet for negligent homicide. Overstreet has alleged that the
individual defendants and state of Montana participated in the following deceitful
and malicious conduct related to his criminal case: 1) during the course of the
prosecution for negligent homicide, they acted outside the scope of their
employment as a state trooper and prosecutors. Specifically each participated in
deliberately destroying and concealing the evidence and removing any record of
the evidence existence from the discovery provided to Overstreet during that
prosecution; and 2) deliberately and without probable cause prosecuted him for
the offense of Negligent Homicide.

The State commenced the original criminal prosecution of Overstreet in late 2015 alleging that on December 13, 2015, Plaintiff was driving a pickup truck and was involved in an accident where one of the occupants of that vehicle died. The

State provided discovery in connection with prosecution and the case went to trial in August, 2017. The State did not have an expert and provided no mention of any evidence of a long brown hair removed from or photographed in the vehicle involved in the accident.

The jury was unable to reach a verdict based upon the hung jury and the Judge declared a mistrial. The State commenced a second prosecution, and the case went to trial in March, 2018. By then, the State had retained an expert (Barbara Watson who has resolved this matter with Plaintiff and is no longer a party) former Montana Highway Patrol Officer and crash reconstruction expert to assist the State with prosecution in this matter. Ms. Watson conducted an investigation and prepared a report related to that investigation. Though Ms. Watson located and photographed exculpatory evidence in connection with that prosecution (a long brown hair on the driver's side door of the vehicle Overstreet was accused to have been driving), this information and photographs of the evidence were curiously omitted from her final report. The report the State provided to Overstreet's counsel made no mention of the hair and did not include copies of the photographs of the exculpatory evidence. The report had been modified and sanitized prior to providing it to Overstreet's defense counsel.

Overstreet, went to the second trial in March, 2018 not having the benefit of this deliberately omitted evidence. During the trial, and for the first time, Trooper

Fetterhoff (a named defendant in this matter) testified that the State had located a long dark brown hair on the driver's side door of the vehicle. At the time of that testimony, the case had been pending for 2 ½ years, and this information had never been previously disclosed to Mr. Overstreet and/or his counsel. Barbara Watson also acknowledged that she had observed the vehicle during her crash reconstruction efforts and had observed the hair and had photographed the hair during the investigation. She provided this information to County Attorney Shannan Piccolo, however that information never made it to the final report and Fetterhoff did not preserve the hair. While Fetterhoff's testimony at trial and subsequent hearings was inconsistent (he testified that he preserved the hair in an evidence bag and then discarded it, but later stated that he did not preserve the evidence based upon advice of County Attorney Becker who told him just to throw it away). Either way, Fetterhoff destroyed the evidence after discussing its existence with the county attorney defendants.

After this testimony, the jury failed to reach a verdict and the Court declared a second mistrial. After that second 2018 trial, Bruce Becker, then Park County Attorney informed counsel for Mr. Overstreet that he did not intend to re-prosecute the matter. Based upon Mr. Becker's representations that the State was not seeking to re-try the matter, Plaintiff agreed to the release of the vehicle involved in the

accident. The State then filed a Motion to Dismiss without prejudice. The Court granted that Motion.

Thereafter, Kendra Lassiter took over as Park County Attorney. Despite Mr. Becker's representations that the case would not be retried, she referred the matter to the Attorney General's Office for review. The Attorney General's Office initiated a third prosecution on June 20, 2019. The defense objected based on Becker's previous representation that the State would not retry the matter and because Overstreet had relied upon that representation in releasing the vehicle from protected evidence storage.

During this third attempt at prosecution and because of the new trial testimony related to the long brown hair, Overstreet's counsel requested a full new copy of the discovery in the matter. The State resisted this effort and denied that the hair existed at all, however ultimately provided the discovery in late 2019. During that time frame, and despite the State's denial, Overstreet specifically requested that the long brown hair be sent to the Montana State Crime Lab for DNA testing. This was where Mr. Overstreet definitively learned that the hair had been carelessly thrown away and destroyed that all information regarding its existence had been sanitized from the case—including Barbara Watson's report. Sometime later in 2019, and for the first time, the State provided correspondence from Fetterhoff that he *threw the long brown hair in the garbage* as it had "no

evidentiary value to him." Fetterhoff claimed he spoke to the Park County Attorney who told him not to keep the hair.

In light of the State's deliberate actions of deliberately destroying and/or failing to maintain evidence (including both the long brown hair and the vehicle involved in the accident), Overstreet filed a Motion to Dismiss the third criminal prosecution. The District Court granted that Motion on May 20, 2020. Overstreet filed this civil action March 29, 2021 seeking to hold the State and individual defendants responsible for their deliberate actions.

The Court approved, and Overstreet filed his Second Amended Complaint (SAC) in this matter on or about January 30, 2023. A copy of the SAC is attached as Exhibit 2 hereto. Defendants collectively filed a Motion to Dismiss this matter pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), M.R.Civ.P., arguing in essence that prosecutorial immunity barred this action. The District Court agreed and dismissed this matter by Order dated August 22, 2023.

In dismissing the matter, the District Court acknowledged that it was required to deem all allegations plead in Plaintiff's Complaint as true. However, contrary to those plead allegations, the District Court made a specific finding that Overstreet had alleged that the individual defendants were acting in the course and scope of their employment as county attorneys and state actors and therefore this action was barred based upon the doctrine of prosecutorial immunity.

In entering this Order, the District Court failed to acknowledge the well plead allegations set forth throughout the body of the SAC and specifically the allegations set forth on page 18, paragraph 191-193 that Fetterhoff, Becker's and Piccolo's actions "constitute an exception to prosecutorial immunity based upon their continued pursing of charges against Plaintiff without probable cause," and that Becker and Piccolo have a duty as lawyers licensed to practice law in the State of Montana, to Plaintiff to make a thorough investigation, to pursue truth and justice, to present their case with honesty under oath, to not destroy evidence, to now throw evidence into the garbage, and to charge individuals with offenses only when they have probable cause to do so." SAC, paragraphs 191-193.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For purposes of avoiding duplicative recitation, the facts alleged in support of this action are set forth fully and completely in Exhibit 2, the SAC filed herein. These facts, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), M.R.Civ.P., and the following cases are deemed to be admitted as true for the District Court's consideration of the Motion to dismiss filed herein. While each and every plead fact is specific and germane to the claims in this matter, the following allegations set forth in at pages 14, ¶¶ 152-154, page 16, ¶¶ 175-176; page 17-18, ¶188-193; page 20, ¶¶ 204-206. These constitute the facts common to all counts and specifically identify that the State actors, Becker, Piccolo and Fetterhoff were acting outside the scope of their

respective authority, along with identifying the subversive and deceitful behaviors they exhibited in connection with the State prosecutions of Overstreet.

The only area where Overstreet pleads Piccolo and Becker were acting within the scope of their authority is in connection with the Negligence Claim at page 23, ¶225. However these allegations are not mutually exclusive and the District Court should have deemed both to be true.

Overstreet's only allegations with respect to Becker and Piccolo's employment status for Counts IV-VII are set forth in the facts common to all counts wherein Overstreet alleges they are acting outside the scope of their employment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred when it found that Overstreet failed to specifically plead that the State actors in this case were acting outside the scope of their employment for purposes of application of the doctrine of prosecutorial immunity. The District Court further erred when it opined that the State was likewise not liable for the individual defendants' actions based upon that doctrine of prosecutorial immunity. The district court further erred when it dismissed the well plead causes of action in Counts IV-on the basis of prosecutorial immunity.

Finally, the Statute of Limitations did not start to run in this matter until the final prosecution was commenced in at a minimum on June 20, 2019 and the new

discovery was supplied that included Watson's full report, photographs of the evidence and Fetterhoff's explanation that he "threw it in the garbage" at Becker's direction. Thus the District Court's determination that the Statute of Limitations had run was improper.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's ruling on a motion to dismiss pursuant to M.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) *de novo. Dickson v. Marino*, 2020 MT 196, ¶ 6, 400 Mont. 526, 469 P.3d 159. "A district court should not dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim that would entitle him to relief." Marshall v. Safeco Ins. Co., 2018 MT 45, ¶6, 390 Mont. 358, 413 P.3d 828, emphasis added. "A district court's determination that a complaint has failed to state a claim for which relief can be granted is a conclusion of law which this Court reviews for correctness." Cossitt v. Flathead Indus., 2018 MT 82, ¶7, 391 Mont. 156, 415 P.3d 486. Under Rule 12(b)(6), the court must take all well-pled factual assertions as true and view them in the light most favorable to the claimant, drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the claim. Anderson v. ReconTrust Company, N.A., 2017 MT 313, 390 Mont. 12, 407 P.3d 692. The Court should "construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the plaintiff, deeming all factual allegations to be true." Fellows v. Office of Water Comm'r, 2012 MT 169, ¶11, 365 Mont.

540, 258 P.3d 448, emphasis added. This Court "will affirm the dismissal only if it finds that the plaintiff is not entitled to relief under any set of facts that could be proven in support of the claims." *Martin v. Artis*, 2012 MT 249, ¶8, 366 Mont. 513, 290 P.3d 687, *citing Fellows*, ¶11.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED DEFENDANTS' RULE 12(b)(6) MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM.

In this case, Defendants collectively filed Motions to Dismiss this matter pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), M.R.Civ. P. based on the following arguments:

- 1. The individual defendants named in this action are immune from liability pursuant to §2-9-305(5), MCA and thus the State is the only appropriate defendant herein;
- 2. The State has absolute prosecutorial immunity;
- 3. The named prosecutors have absolute prosecutorial immunity;
- 4. Plaintiff's claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations;
- 5. Plaintiff's claims for Spoilation of Evidence, Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, and actual malice are barred by prosecutorial immunity;
- 6. Plaintiff's claims for Malicious Prosecution are barred against the State based upon prosecutorial immunity.

In sum, the Defendants argued that the State of Montana is the only properly named defendant and that the State, and all individually named defendants, are immune under §2-9-305, MCA. Based on that Motion, the district court granted the Motion to Dismiss. When it did so, the Court erred and this Court should reverse the dismissal and remand the matter to the District Court for additional proceedings.

A. RULE 12(b)(6) DISMISSALS ARE AN EXTREME REMEDY AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN GRANTED IN THIS CASE BASED UPON THE WELL PLEAD ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT.

Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss the Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint (SAC) in this matter for failure to State a Claim. Such a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) allows the district court to examine *only* whether "a claim has been adequately stated in the complaint." *Gebhardt v. D.A. Davidson & Co.*, 203 Mont. 384, 389, 661 P.2d 855, 857 (1983). As a result, the court is limited to an examination of the contents of the complaint in making its determination of adequacy. Additionally, the effect of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss is that all the well-plead allegations in the complaint are admitted as true; therefore, it should not be dismissed "unless it appears beyond reasonable doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts which would entitle him to relief." *Gebhardt*, 203 Mont. at 389, 661 P.2d at 857-58 (citation omitted).

In this case, Plaintiff has provided specific and well plead allegations in his Complaint that he had fully incorporated in his original opposition to the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. Based upon *Gebhart*, the district court was obligated to deem these allegations as "true" for purposes of the Motion. The district court failed to do so and as a result erred when it granted Defendants' Motion to Dismiss.

- B. DEFENDANTS ARE NOT IMMUNE FROM THEIR ACTIONS IN THIS CASE AS THE ACTIONS ARE OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT. THE MOTION TO DISMISS MUST BE DENIED.
 - i. Fetterhoff, Becker and Piccolo are proper defendants because their negligent actions were outside the scope of their employment, or within their administrative capacity which is not protected by immunity.

a. County Attorneys.

For purposes of a 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss, the district court was obligated to take as true the allegations in the SAC, that the individual named county attorney defendants in this matter engaged in actions that were outside the scope of their prosecutorial acts and employment. Plaintiff specifically set this allegation forth in his SAC at page 18, ¶¶191-193 wherein he alleged that: ". . . . Fetterhoff's . . ., Bruce Becker's and Shannan Piccolo's actions constitute an exception to prosecutorial immunity based upon their continued pursuing of charges against Plaintiff without probable cause;" "defendant's Fetterhoff, Becker

and Piccolo failed to make a thorough investigation, pursue the true and justice present their case with honestly under oath, to not destroy evidence, to no throw evidence into the garbage, and to charge individuals with offenses only when they have probable cause to do so."

In a similar matter, where defendant prosecutors were alleged to have acted outside the scope of their authority, Smith on Behalf of Smith v. Butte-Silver Bow *Cnty.*, 266 Mont. 1, 7, 878 P.2d 870, 873 (1994), this Court has found that: "[b]ecause the County Attorney was not acting within his prosecutorial capacity when he failed to advise the County Jail of information allegedly indicating Richard's suicidal tendency the District Court erred in concluding that the County and the State were entitled to prosecutorial immunity." Specifically, because the County Attorney was not acting within his "prosecutorial capacity" when he failed to advise the County Jail of information allegedly indicating Richard's suicidal tendency, this Court found that the District Court erred in concluding that the County and the State were entitled to prosecutorial immunity. Id. Prosecutorial capacity means whether the conduct occurred in the course of filing and maintaining criminal charges. Id. In this case, the district court failed to recognize the presumption in favor of the Plaintiff's allegations that the actions were not.

Notably, Overstreet's SAC further included allegations that when defendant/attorneys Becker and Piccolo instructed Trooper Fetterhoff to discard

instead of safeguard evidence (the long brown hair pulled from Overstreet's driver's door panel), they were acting outside their scope of employment and prosecutorial functions. When the attorney defendants intentionally omitted the photograph of the long brown hair from the discovery to Overstreet, they were acting outside their duties as prosecutors and are not immune to prosecution.

The County Attorney Defendants argued that their "decisions" to disclose or not disclose evidence was within their prosecutorial duties. This is a complete misrepresentation of the attorney's duties. Montana law is very clear that Prosecutors have an "affirmative" duty to disclose all evidence to an accused. §46-15-327, MCA. Prosecutors have a duty to preserve exculpatory evidence. Prosecutors are outside the scope of their duties when they take affirmative action to destroy exculpatory evidence. The defendant/attorneys' claims that destroying evidence is within their scope of employment is completely against the United States and Montana Constitutions, and certainly should never be protected by immunity.

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