05/28/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0664

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0664

### WALTER JOEY OVERSTREET,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

ERICK FETTERHOFF in his official and individual capacities, and JOHN DOES 3-7, BARBARA WATSON, individually, and WATSON CRASH RECONSTRUCTION, LLC, MONTANA HIGHWAY PATROL, and PARK COUNTY, MONTANA, a political subdivision, BRUCE BECKER, individually, and as Park County Attorney, SHANNAN PICCOLO, individually, and as Deputy Park County Attorney, STATE OF MONTANA, and KENDRA LASSITER, individually, and in her official capacity as Park County Attorney,

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Every one of Overstreet's claims relate to the preparation, filing, and prosecution of criminal charges against him, and as such, they are barred by prosecutorial immunity. Additionally, the individual Defendants are statutorily immune from suit for acts committed within the scope of their employment.

Finally, every one of Overstreet's claims is fatally flawed for other reasons: his negligence claim is barred by the statute of limitations, his spoliation claims are not cognizable in the underlying criminal action, he cannot meet all the elements of his malicious prosecution claim, standing trial is an insufficient basis for his emotional distress claim, and actual malice is not a cognizable cause of action

against the State. The District Court correctly ruled that Overstreet had failed to state any claim upon which relief could be granted, and should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The District Court correctly found, as a matter of law, that the State of Montana is the only proper defendant.
  - A. The Montana Highway Patrol was properly dismissed.

"[T]he State of Montana is the only proper defendant in tort claims brought against the State of Montana." *Marten v. Montana*, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71040, at \*5 (D. Mont. Apr. 26, 2019) (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 2-9-313). The "State" is defined to mean "the state of Montana or any office, department, agency, authority, commission, board, institution, hospital, college, university, or other instrumentality of the state." Mont. Code Ann. § 2-9-101(7). The Montana Highway Patrol ("MHP") is an instrumentality of the State. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 44-1-101. Therefore, naming both the State and MHP as defendants is redundant and improper, and the District Court did not err in dismissing MHP as a defendant.

## B. The individually named defendants were properly dismissed.

The individually named defendants are immune from suit because the State and County have acknowledged that all were operating within the course and scope of their employment during all complained-of acts. For acts taken within their prosecutorial capacity, Becker and Piccolo are State actors; for any other acts, they are County actors. Montana Code Annotated § 2-9-305(5) provides,

In an action against a governmental entity, the employee whose conduct gave rise to the suit is immune from liability by reasons of the same subject matter if the governmental entity acknowledges or is bound by a judicial determination that the conduct upon which the claim is brought arises out of the course and scope of the employee's employment, unless the claim constitutes an exclusion provided in subsections (6)(b) through (6)(d).

Overstreet has not argued that any of the exceptions in subsections (6)(b) through (6)(d) apply in this case, and none do. Therefore, Mont. Code Ann. § 2-9-305(5) "serves as a complete bar to holding [defendants] individually liable." *Griffith v. Butte Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 2010 MT 246, ¶ 60, 358 Mont. 193, 244 P.3d 321.

Although Overstreet argues strenuously in his opening brief that Appellees Fetterhoff, Becker, and Piccolo<sup>1</sup> were not acting within the course and scope of their employment during the complained-of acts, the argument is contrary to what he actually alleged in his SAC. *See* Doc. 125 at 14 (citing Doc. 96 at ¶¶ 203, 204, 206, 215, 217, 223, and 225). Moreover, the application of statutory immunity is not a presumption that he can rebut. The plain language of the statute provides that if the individual defendant's governmental employer acknowledges that he or she acted within the course and scope of his or her employment, it accepts liability and

Although this appeal is captioned to include Kendra Lassiter as an Appellee, the District Court denied leave to add her as a defendant on July 12, 2023 (Doc. 122), and that order has not been appealed. In the event that this Court deems Lassiter to be included as an Appellee, the arguments pertaining to Appellees Fetterhoff, Becker, and Piccolo should be deemed to apply equally to Lassiter.

the employee is absolutely immune from suit. *See, e.g., Emanuel v. Great Falls Sch. Dist.*, 2009 MT 185, ¶ 20, 351 Mont. 56, 209 P.3d 244; *Denke v. Shoemaker*, 2008 MT 418, ¶ 87, 347 Mont. 322, 198 P.3d 284. The State and County have done so, and thus their individually named employees are absolutely immune.

### II. Prosecutorial immunity is an absolute bar to all claims.

Every one of the actions about which Overstreet complains is a classic prosecutorial function, and therefore each claim is barred by the doctrine of prosecutorial immunity. Prosecutorial immunity is well-established in Montana's common law, immunizing prosecutors from civil liability for conduct within the scope of their prosecutorial duties. See Ronek v. Gallatin County, 227 Mont. 514, 516, 740 P.2d 1115; see also Steele v. McGregor, 1998 MT 85, ¶¶ 25-26, 288 Mont. 238, 956 P.2d 1364; Reneger v. State, 2018 MT 228, ¶ 9, 392 Mont. 495, 426 P.3d 559. This immunity "allows [the prosecutor] 'to speak and act freely and fearlessly in enforcing the criminal laws." Ronek, 227 Mont. at 516 (quoting State ex rel. Dept. of Justice v. District Court, 172 Mont. 88, 90, 560 P.2d 1328 (1977)). That is, "[p]rosecutorial immunity does not reflect judicial or social approval of prosecutorial misconduct, but rather reflects a balance between an individual's right to be treated fairly by prosecutors and society's need to keep the criminal justice system functioning without undue interference and protracted delay." Ronek, 227 Mont. at 520 (quotation marks and citation omitted). The doctrine

extends to the State and its agencies and to Montana counties, in addition to the individual actor. *See State ex rel. Dept. of Justice v. District Court*, 172 Mont. 88, 92-93, 560 P.2d 1328 (1976); *Reneger*, 2018 MT at ¶ 9.

In determining whether prosecutorial immunity applies, Montana courts conduct a functional analysis of the capacity in which the claimant acted. "A criminal prosecutor is 'absolutely immune from civil liability' when performing the traditional functions of an advocate, 'regardless of negligence or lack of probable cause." Renenger, 2018 MT at ¶ 10 (quoting Rosenthal v. County of Madison, 2007 MT 277, ¶¶ 29-30, 339 Mont. 419, 170 P.3d 493). Traditional prosecutorial functions are those that "occurred in the course of filing and maintaining criminal charges." Smith, 266 Mont. at 7; see also Mont. Code Ann. § 7-4-2716 (county attorney duties related to state matters include filing and prosecuting criminal actions). The marshaling of evidence for a criminal trial is also a "traditional function" of an advocate. See Torres v. Goddard, 793 F.3d 1046, 1053 (9th Cir. 2015). A prosecutor's ill intent or malice are irrelevant. Rosenthal, 2007 MT at ¶ 30 (citing *Imbler v. Pachtman*, 424 U.S. 409, 423-24, 96 S. Ct. 984 (1976)). "Therefore, even if [a prosecutor] had arguably improper motives that influenced the decision to file the complaint, the decision to file the complaint was within [the prosecutor's] authorized discretion and such motives cannot deprive a prosecutor of absolute immunity." Rosenthal, 2007 MT at ¶ 30; see also Steele,

1998 MT at ¶ 20. Application of prosecutorial immunity "is not limited to persons who hold the title of 'prosecutor,'" but extends to others involved in prosecutorial functions. *Kelman v. Losleben*, 894 P.3d 955, 957, 271 Mont. 156 (Mont. 1995).

The converse, of course, is that when a prosecutor is not acting in a prosecutorial capacity – even where they are acting within the scope of their employment – they are not entitled to prosecutorial immunity. Actions taken in an "administrative" capacity are not entitled to prosecutorial immunity. In Kelman v. Losleben, an investigator for the Montana Department of Justice was not entitled to prosecutorial immunity when investigating a gambling license application, because the investigation was administrative in nature and unrelated to any criminal charges. 894 P.2d at 958. In Smith v. Butte-Silver Bow County, the County Attorney was not entitled to prosecutorial immunity for failing to inform the county jail that a detainee may be suicidal, because charges had already been filed and the information was "extraneous" to maintenance of the charges. 266 Mont. 1, 7, 878 P.2d 870 (1994). The Smith Court concluded that, "While maintaining the safety of individuals incarcerated is important to the criminal justice system, the County Attorney's decisions in that regard are part of his administrative function... acts or omissions of a prosecutor involving conditions of post-arrest confinement are not protected by prosecutorial immunity because they lack an intimate

association with the prosecutorial phase of the judicial process." *Smith*, 266 Mont. at 7-8.

The timing of the prosecutor's acts is also important; if they occurred during the "investigative" phase of a case, where there is not yet probable cause to arrest any particular person, prosecutorial immunity does not apply. In Buckley v. Fitzsimmons, the U.S. Supreme Court concluded that a prosecutor's pre-charge investigation of a boot print at the scene of a crime was not undertaken in his prosecutorial capacity, but was "entirely investigative in character." 509 U.S. 259, 274, 113 S. Ct. 2606 (1993). This was because the prosecutor did not have probable cause to arrest the plaintiff at that time, and a prosecutor "neither is, nor should consider himself to be, an advocate before he has probable cause to have anyone arrested." 509 U.S. at 274. Likewise, in *Burns v. Reed*, the U.S. Supreme Court determined that legal advice given to law enforcement during the "investigative phase of a criminal case" was not entitled to prosecutorial immunity. 500 U.S. 478, 492-496.

The relevant question in applying prosecutorial immunity to this case is whether the State, through its employees and the County Attorneys, was acting in a prosecutorial capacity with respect to the complained-of acts and omissions.

Because each of Overstreet's allegations relate to the preparation, filing, or

prosecution of criminal charges against him, prosecutorial immunity applies. The factual allegations underlying Overstreet's claims in the SAC include:

- Defendants "participated in the investigation and continued prosecution of a criminal action ... knowing they had failed to diligently review and secure all evidence in connection with the case, had knowingly failed to produce and provide all evidence, including, but not limited to exculpatory evidence to Plaintiff in connection with the case, and by failing to abide by Court Orders to produce evidence" (Doc. 96 at ¶ 187);
- Becker and Piccolo "told Mr. Overstreet they would not re-try the case, released the evidence, then did not dismiss the action with prejudice" (Doc. 96 at ¶ 188);
- Fetterhoff, Becker, and Piccolo "failed to fully investigate the case and ... charged [Overstreet] with criminal offenses of Vehicular Homicide While Under the Influence, and Negligent Vehicular assault, on December 13, 2015, and continued the breach of duty until March, 2020, when the charges were dismissed, when they did not have probable cause to charge the offenses" (Doc. 96 at ¶ 194);
- Becker and Piccolo "continued the prosecution against Plaintiff without probable cause and ... hid evidence from Plaintiff during their prosecution against Plaintiff" (Doc. 96 at ¶ 197);
- Fetterhoff, Becker, and Piccolo "did not do a thorough investigation, did not provide the air bags from the vehicle to the crime lab for testing, and ... dispos[ed] of evidence collected in the course of the investigation" (Doc. 96 at ¶ 200);
- Fetterhoff "charged Walter Joey Overstreet with criminal offenses without probable cause" (Doc. 96 at ¶ 201); and
- Fetterhoff "did not do a thorough investigation and threw evidence into the garbage" (Doc. 96 at ¶ 202).

Each of these acts has "an intimate association with the prosecutorial phase of the judicial process," Smith, 266 Mont. at 7-8, and is therefore a prosecutorial act entitled to prosecutorial immunity. Unlike the plaintiffs in *Kelman* and *Smith*, Overstreet's allegations all revolve around the circumstances of his criminal prosecution, not some other administrative function of the Defendants. And unlike the plaintiffs in *Buckley* and *Burns*, all of the complained-of acts occurred after there was probable cause to suspect him, and after he had been charged with a crime.<sup>2</sup> With respect to each fact Overstreet alleges, the State was acting in its role as an advocate. Therefore, even if he could prove that every alleged act was undertaken with malice and the intent to cause him harm, it would make no difference – each allegation fits very comfortably in the definition of the traditional prosecutorial functions of preparing, filing, and prosecuting criminal charges, and the State is absolutely immune. See Rosenthal, 2007 MT at ¶ 30. The District Court should be affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The SAC does not allege the date when Overstreet was first charged with the crimes at issue here, but this Court can take judicial notice pursuant to Mont. R. Evid. 201 that the information in Cause No. DC 2016-7 was filed in the Sixth Judicial District for Park County, Montana on January 20, 2016.

## III. Each count of the SAC is fatally flawed in additional ways.

Although the Appellees' absolute prosecutorial immunity is dispositive of all issues in this case, Appellees also briefly address each specific count of the SAC and why the District Court correctly dismissed it.

### A. Overstreet's negligence claim is time-barred (Count I).

Because Overstreet filed his original Complaint on March 29, 2021, his negligence claims that accrued before March 29, 2018 are barred by the three-year statute of limitations. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-204(1). A claim "accrues when all elements of the claim or cause exist or have occurred, the right to maintain an action on the claim or cause is complete, and a court or other agency is authorized to accept jurisdiction of the action." Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-102(1)(a).

Overstreet's second trial took place on March 13, 14, and 15, 2018. *See* Doc. 96 at ¶ 101. Thus, on March 29, 2018, Overstreet's second trial had been finished for two weeks. Most of Overstreet's negligence allegations go to the State's alleged failure to "diligently review and secure all evidence in connection with the case," "produce and provide all evidence," and "abide by Court Orders to produce evidence." Doc. 96 at ¶ 187. Specifically, Overstreet alleges that he and his counsel "learned of the long brown hair located in the driver's door when Barbara Watson with Watson Crash Reconstruction, LLC, testified at trial two about the existence of the long brown hair which she excluded from her expert report." Doc. 96 at

¶ 151. Overstreet's claim accrued when he became aware of the State's allegedly negligent act or omission, which, according to him, occurred no later than March 15, 2018. At that point, the State was no longer "hid[ing] evidence" from him. Doc. 96 at ¶ 197. Although Overstreet argues in his opening brief that he did not discover the destruction of the hair until June 20, 2019, *see* Br. at 28, his claims in the SAC are premised on the withholding of the hair, not its destruction. *See also* Doc. 125 at 15. Overstreet's claims related to the allegedly negligent handling of evidence are time-barred.

Overstreet also alleges that MHP and the County negligently employed Fetterhoff, Becker, and Piccolo. *See* Doc. 96 at ¶¶ 207-210. However, the SAC also alleges that all three individuals were employed at least from the start of the underlying criminal case in December 2015. *See* Doc. 96 at ¶¶ 7, 10, 17. Therefore, their hiring and training must have occurred before that time, and claims related to their employment are also time-barred.

# B. Overstreet's spoliation of evidence claims are not cognizable in Montana (Counts II and III).

The District Court properly concluded "that the law is clear that spoliation claims pertain to civil actions and not to criminal cases," Doc. 77 at 13, and because the underlying claim relates to a criminal proceeding, the claims fail. *See* Doc. 125 at 15-16. Because spoliation of evidence "is a tort sanctionable as a discovery abuse under the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure," it "is not applicable

... in a criminal proceeding governed by the rules of criminal procedure." *State v. Jeffries*, 2018 MT 17, ¶¶ 24-25, 390 Mont. 189, 410 P.3d 972. For this reason alone, dismissal of Counts II and III was correct.

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